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HISTORY OF THE PROCEEDING


This decision sustains a complaint which the Public Utility Commission, Law Bureau (Complainant), filed against Herman Oil and Gas Company, Inc. (Respondent) on January 28, 2004.  The complaint requests the imposition of a civil penalty against Respondent in the amount of $250,000.00 for safety violations.  Mark E. Smith, President of Respondent, filed a letter-answer to the complaint on February 20, 2004, denying the complaint allegations.



This matter was scheduled for an initial hearing on August 31, 2004 and a Prehearing Order was issued on July 22, 2004.  At the request of Complainant the hearing was continued until October 27, 2004.



On October 7, 2004, Complainant filed an amended complaint adding violations of the Commission’s Gas Cost Rate filing requirements.  Respondent did not file an answer to the amended complaint.



The initial hearing was held on October 27, 2004.  Wayne Scott, Esquire, represented Complainant.  


Complainant presented the testimony of Richard Wallace, the Supervisor of the Commission’s Audits Technical Section.  Mr. Wallace presented Prosecutory Staff Exhibit 1, a notarized statement from the Commission’s Secretary’s Bureau indicating that Complainant has not made certain Annual Gas Cost Rate filings, has not made certain Annual 1307(e) Statements and did not file an Annual Reconciliation Statement for the year 2000.  Complainant also presented the testimony of Steve Hurbanek, a pipeline safety inspector in the Commission’s Gas Safety Division.  Mr. Hurbanek presented Prosecutory Staff Exhibit 2, a compliance letter dated November 21, 2003, sent from the Gas Safety Division of the Commission’s Bureau of Transportation and Safety to Mr. Smith indicating that Respondent was in violation of various state and federal regulations.


Mark E. Smith testified on behalf of Respondent.  Despite being notified in the Prehearing Order that corporations must be represented by an attorney in contested proceedings before the Commission, Respondent was not represented by an attorney at the hearing.  Mr. Smith, President of Respondent, was permitted to testify, but was not permitted to perform other actions which would constitute the practice of law.  Tr. 4-5.


The record, which consists of the above-mentioned two exhibits and a 59-page transcription of the notes of testimony, closed on November 18, 2004.  The parties did not file briefs.

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. Mark E. Smith is the owner, operator and sole shareholder of Respondent, a corporation.  Other than Mr. Smith, Respondent has no employees.  Mr. Smith became the owner of Respondent in 1981 or 1982
 when he purchased the system from a production company which had two miles of pipe, 25 customers and three wells.  Respondent added customers along the gathering system and added pipeline and gas wells from other production companies.  Today, Respondent has about 400 customers, most of which are residential customers, and about 54 miles of pipeline.  Respondent’s service territory is in Butler County and part of Armstrong County.  Tr. 20-23, 30.
2. Mr. Smith created Herman Energy, Inc. (Herman Energy) and S.M.E.
 Well Service, Inc. (SME), both Chapter S corporations.
  According to Mr. Smith, SME owns the wells and lines of Respondent and Herman Energy markets the gas of SME.  In April 2000 Respondent sent a letter to its customers informing them that they could switch their gas service to Herman Energy; all of Respondent’s customers did so.  SME produces the gas and Herman Energy markets it to Respondent’s previous customers.  According to Mr. Smith, Respondent no longer performs any functions because there is not enough money to run Respondent the way big companies run their systems.  Mr. Smith could not collect overdue bills from customers and Respondent was going broke.  The flat rate which Herman Energy charges its customers is less than Respondent charged its customers.  Tr. 23-28, 31, 40.

3. Herman Energy has annual revenues of about $200,000.00.  Mr. Smith has no other source of income.  Tr. 34.

4. Mr. Smith replaces about a mile of pipe per year, always increasing the size of the old pipe.  Currently, about half of the system’s 54 miles of pipe is steel and half is plastic.  The system has compressor stations and gas is sold to National Fuel Gas Distribution System and an asphalt company in the summer.  Tr. 29-31, 35.
5. Mr. Smith leak tests service lines before placing them in service.  Tr. 36.

6. Since 2000, Mr. Smith does not have any records of tests performed on Respondent’s pipelines.  Tr. 36.

7. The maps, plans and records of Respondent’s distribution system are partial and are not updated.  Tr. 37.

8. Respondent’s latest tariff on file with the Commission is Supplement No. 36 to Gas-Pa. P.U.C. No. 4 (Supplement No. 36), which was issued December 31, 1999 and became effective January 1, 2000.  Respondent’s GCR is set forth on pages 7-9 of Supplement 36.  Respondent has not complied with Supplement 36 since 2000.  Tr. 40.
9. Neither Herman Energy nor Respondent filed a tariff with the Commission regarding the rates Herman Energy began to charge in 2000.  Tr. 31, 39.

10. Respondent did not file an Annual Gas Cost Rate Filing for 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004.  Ex. PS-1, Tr. 39.
11. Respondent did not file an Annual 1307(e) Statement for 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004.  Ex. PS-1.

12. Respondent did not file an Annual Reconciliation Statement for 2000.  Ex. PS-1. 

13. On October 30, 2003 Steve Hurbanek, a Pipeline Safety Inspector in the Commission’s Gas Safety Division, conducted an annual safety inspection of Respondent’s physical plant and records.  As a result of the inspection, Paul Metro, the Supervisor of the Gas Safety Division, sent a non-compliance letter to Respondent dated November 21, 2003.  The non-compliance letter requested that Respondent submit to the Gas Safety Division written documentation, on or before December 5, 2003, a plan to correct the violations listed in the letter, a schedule showing the dates that the work will be completed, and a plan to contact the Gas Safety Division to discuss the reasons for the violations and the prevention of future violations.  The letter includes the telephone number of the Gas Safety Division and concludes with the admonition that if Respondent fails to comply with the requests made in the letter, the Gas Safety Division will initiate appropriate enforcement actions against Respondent.  Respondent did not comply with the request contained in the non-compliance letter.  Tr. 13-16, 18-19; Ex. PS-2.

14. Mr. Hurbanek’s October 30, 2003 annual safety inspection of Respondent’s facilities found that Respondent has committed the following violations of the Commission’s Gas Safety Regulations:
a. Respondent has failed to maintain, modify, and follow the required plans, procedures, and programs for its operating pipelines, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.13(c) and 52 Pa. Code §59.33;

b. Respondent’s corrosion control procedures are not carried out by, or under the direction of a person qualified in pipeline corrosion control methods, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.453 and 52 Pa. Code §59.33;

c. Respondent does not clean or coat its exposed pipelines in order to prevent atmospheric corrosion, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.479 and 52 Pa. Code §59.33;

d. Respondent does not monitor its exposed pipelines and take necessary remedial action to protect them from atmospheric corrosion, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.481 and 52 Pa. Code §59.33

e. Respondent has failed to replace or repair corroded distribution line pipe, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.487 and 52 Pa. Code §59.33

f. Respondent has failed to replace or repair cast iron or ductile iron pipe segments on which graphitization exists, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.489 and 52 Pa. Code §59.33

g. Respondent has failed to comply with the leak test requirements for its pipelines that are operated below 100 p.s.i. (689KPa) gage, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.509 and 52 Pa. Code §59.33;

h. Respondent does not test its plastic pipelines for potentially hazardous leaks, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.513 and 52 Pa. Code § 59.33;
i. Respondent has not established and executed a written plan by which it will periodically survey each customer-owned service line for leakage, which is a violation of 52 Pa. Code §§59.33 and 39.34;

j. Respondent has not made and retained records of any tests performed on its pipelines, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.517 and 52 Pa. Code § 59.33;

k. Respondent has failed to keep the records necessary to administer the procedures for operations, maintenance and emergencies, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.603 and 52 Pa. Code § 59.33;

l. Respondent does not keep up to date and complete maps, plans and records of its entire distribution and other system, which is a violation of 52 Pa. Code §§59.33 and 59.37;

m. Respondent has failed to prepare and follow for each pipeline a manual of written procedures for conducting operations and maintenance activities and for emergency response, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.605 and 52 Pa. Code §59.33;
n. Respondent does not have a written procedure for continuing surveillance of its facilities to enable it to monitor changes in operating and maintenance conditions, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.613 and 52 Pa. Code §59.33;

o. Respondent is not a member of Pennsylvania One Call and does not have a written program to prevent damage to buried pipelines from excavation activities, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.614 and 52 Pa. Code §59.33;

p. Respondent does not have a written emergency plan, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.615 and 52 Pa. Code §59.33;

q. Respondent has failed to establish written procedures for analyzing accidents and failures in order to determine the causes of failures and minimize any recurrence, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.617 and 52 Pa. Code §59.33;

r. Respondent does not conduct periodic sampling of combustible gases to assure the proper concentration of odorant, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.625 and 52 Pa. Code §59.30(e);

s. Respondent has failed to replace, repair or remove unsafe pipelines and to repair hazardous leaks promptly, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.703 and 52 Pa. Code §59.33;

t. Respondent has not placed and maintained ground markers for buried pipelines or for above-ground pipelines in its service territory or placed maker warnings on the line markers, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.707 and 52 Pa. Code §59.33;
u. Respondent has not conducted periodic leakage surveys of its distribution system, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.723 and 52 Pa. Code §59.33;

v. Respondent does not properly conduct the abandonment or deactivation of pipelines, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.727 and 52 Pa. Code §59.36(4);

w. Respondent has failed to check, service and take remedial action to correct inoperable valves, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.747 and 52 Pa. Code §59.33;

x. Respondent has not taken appropriate preventive steps to minimize the danger of accidental ignition of gas in structures or areas where the presence of gas constitutes a hazard of fire or explosion, which is a violation of 49 CFR §192.751 and 52 Pa. Code §59.33;

y. Respondent does not follow the drug and alcohol testing regulations and procedures, which is a violation of 49 CFR §§199.1, 199.101 and 199.202 and 52 Pa. Code §59.33;

Tr. 13-16, 18-19; Ex. PS-2.
15. Respondent has not responded to the matters which are the subject of the compliance letter or the amended complaint.  Tr. 40.

16. Except for the addition of main lines, Respondent’s system has not changed since 1991.  Tr. 18.
DISCUSSION

As the party seeking relief from the Commission, Complainant has the burden of proof.

“Burden of proof” means a duty to establish a fact by a preponderance of the evidence, or evidence more convincing, by even the smallest degree, than the evidence presented by the other party.
   If a complainant establishes a prima facie case, the burden of going forward with the evidence shifts to the utility.  If a utility does not rebut that evidence, the complainant will prevail.  If the utility rebuts the complainant’s evidence, the burden of going forward with the evidence shifts back to the complainant, who must rebut the utility’s evidence by a preponderance of the evidence.  The burden of going forward with the evidence may shift from one party to another, but the burden of proof never shifts; it always remains on a complainant.
 

If the utility submits evidence of “co-equal” weight to refute the complainant’s evidence, the complainant has not satisfied the burden of proof unless it presents additional evidence opposing the utility’s evidence.
  

The decision of the Commission must be supported by substantial evidence.
  “Substantial evidence” is such relevant evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  More is required than a mere trace of evidence or a suspicion of the existence of a fact sought to be established.
  

Section 701 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S.A. §701, allows any person, having an interest in the subject matter, to file a formal complaint in writing with the Commission setting forth any act or thing done or omitted to be done by any public utility in violation, or claimed violation, of any law which the Commission has jurisdiction to administer or of any regulation or order of the Commission. 
To determine if Complainant has met its burden of proof, it is necessary to review the law governing the duties of a utility, subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction and then to apply the facts of this case to the law.
Respondent is a Public Utility subject to the Commission’s Jurisdiction

Section 102(1)(i) of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S.A. §102(1)(i) defines a public utility as follows:

(1) 
Any person or corporations now or hereafter owning or operating in
this Commonwealth equipment or facilities for:
 
     
(i)    Producing, generating, transmitting, distributing or furnishing
            natural or artificial gas, electricity, or steam for the production
            of light, heat, or power to or for the public for compensation.

Mr. Smith created Herman Energy in 1999 and used SME, which he created in 1992, in an attempt to avoid the Commission’s jurisdiction.  He transferred Respondent’s assets to SME and transferred Respondent’s customers to Herman Energy, the marketing arm of SME.  As discussed in more detail below, this illegal subterfuge to avoid Commission regulation fails and Respondent remains subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction as a public utility providing gas service to the public.  This is because SME and Herman Energy are not recognized as corporations owing to the piercing of the corporate veil, discussed in detail below.
  Respondent, therefore, still fits the definition of a public utility under Section 102 of the Code.  This means that the transfer of Respondent’s assets and customers was in violation of Sections  1102(a)(2) and (3) of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S.A. §1102(a)(2) and (3), which read, in pertinent part, as follows:

(a) General rule.-- Upon the application of any public utility and the approval of such application by the commission, evidenced by its certificate of public convenience first had and obtained, and upon compliance with existing laws, it shall be lawful:

(2)  For any public utility to abandon or surrender, in whole or in part, any service....

(3)  For any public utility...to acquire from, or to transfer to, any person or corporation, including a municipal corporation, by any method or device whatsoever, including the sale or transfer of stock and including a consolidation, merger, sale or lease, the title to, or the possession or use of, any tangible or intangible property used or useful in the public service.

For these violations, Respondent is subject to penalties under Section 3301 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S.A. §3301.  Penalties are discussed below.
Piercing the Corporate Veil



Mr. Smith used SME (which he created in 1992) and Herman Energy (which he created in 1999) to avoid the Commission’s jurisdiction.  The general rule in Pennsylvania is that corporations shall be regarded as independent entities even if their stock is owned entirely by one person.  College Watercolor Group, Inc. v. William H. Newbauer, Inc., 468 Pa. 102, 360 A.2d 200 (1976); Zubik v. Zubik, 384 F.2d 267 (3d Cir. 1967) cert. denied, 290 U.S. 988 (1968).  Factors which may justify disregarding the corporate form include undercapitalization, failure to adhere to corporate formalities, substantial intermingling of corporate and personal affairs and use of the corporate form to perpetrate a fraud. Department of Environmental Resources v. Peggs Run Coal Co., 55 Pa. Cmwlth. Ct. 312, 423, A.2d 765 (1980); Donsco Inc. v. Casper Corp., 587 F.2d 602 (3d Cir. (1978); Commonwealth by Preate v. Events Intern, Inc., 137 Pa. Cmwlth. Ct. 271, 585 A.2d 1146, 1150 (1991); Kaites v. Department of Environmental Resources, 108 Pa. Cmwlth. Ct. 267, 539 A.2d 1148 (1987).  



SME and Herman Energy are corporations created and wholly owned by Mr. Smith.  They are the alter ego
 of Mr. Smith.  Mr. Smith used both corporate forms to perpetrate a fraud on the Commission (his attempt to avoid Commission jurisdiction and not comply with Commission regulations), and on Respondent’s customers (his false representation that Herman Energy was a bonafide corporation which could charge a lesser rate than the rate in Respondent’s tariff).  For this reason, SME and Herman Energy are not regarded as entities independent of Mr. Smith.  In addition, as footnote 3 above indicates, the corporate purpose for both corporations is “Broad.”  If Mr. Smith intended these corporations to be public utilities, the purpose would have been “Gas Company.”  Under the doctrine of piercing the corporate veil, these corporate forms are disregarded.  Respondent, therefore, remains the utility subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction.  Also, as discussed above, Respondent is subject to penalties for attempting to abandon service and attempting to transfer its facilities without complying with Sections 1102(a)(2) and (3) of the Code.
Respondent’s Safety Violations 



Since at least October 30, 2003, Respondent has not complied with the Commission’s gas safety regulations.  Finding of Fact Nos. 13, 14


Respondent’s failure to comply constitutes violations of Sections 501 and 1501 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S.A. §§501 and 1501, and violations of Sections 59.30, 59.33, 59.34, 59.36 and 59.37 of the Commission’s gas safety regulations, 52 Pa. Code §59.30, 59.33, 59.34, 59.36 and 59.37.  The statute and regulation sections, either in full or in pertinent part, read as follows:

§501.  General Powers

(a) Enforcement Of Provisions Of Part.-- In addition to any powers expressly enumerated in this part, the commission shall have full power and authority, and it shall be its duty to enforce, execute and carry out, by its regulations, orders, or otherwise, all and singular, the provisions of this part, and the full intent thereof; and shall have the power to rescind or modify any such regulations or orders. The express enumeration of the powers of the commission in this part shall not exclude any power which the commission would otherwise have under any of the provisions of this part.
 
(b) Administrative Authority And Regulations.-- The commission shall have general administrative power and authority to supervise and regulate all public utilities doing business within this Commonwealth. The commission may make such regulations, not inconsistent with law, as may be necessary or proper in the exercise of its powers or for the performance of its duties.
 
(c) Compliance.-- Every public utility, its officers, agents, and employees, and every other person or corporation subject to the provisions of this part, affected by or subject to any regulations or orders of the commission or of any court, made, issued, or entered under the provisions of this part, shall observe, obey, and comply with such regulations or orders, and the terms and conditions thereof.

§1501.  Character of Service and Facilities
Every public utility shall furnish and maintain adequate, efficient, safe and reasonable service and facilities, and shall make all such repairs, changes, alterations, substitutions, extensions, and improvements in or to such service and facilities as shall be necessary or proper for the accommodation, convenience, and safety of its patrons, employees, and the public.  Such service also shall be reasonably continuous and without unreasonable interruptions or delay.  Such service and facilities shall be in conformity with the regulations and orders of the commission.

§59.30.   Heating value and purity of gas
(e) Purity of gas. The purity of gas distributed in this Commonwealth shall conform with the following:

       (1) Gas shall be substantially free from dangerous or objectionable quantities of impurities such as hydrogen sulphide, nitrogen or other combustible or noncombustible constituents which, if the gas is completely burned, yield noxious or toxic products of combustion.

       (2) Hydrogen sulphide in the gas shall be considered negligible if a strip of white filter paper, moistened with a solution containing 5.0% by weight of lead acetate, is not distinctly darker than a second paper freshly moistened with the same solution, after the first paper has been exposed for one minute in an apparatus of approved form, through which the gas is flowing at the rate of approximately 5 cubic feet per hour, the gas not impinging directly from the jet upon the test paper.

       (3) No gas sold shall contain more than 30 grains total of sulphur per 100 cubic feet and not more than five grains of ammonia per 100 cubic feet.

§59.33.  Safety.

(a)  Responsibility. Each public utility shall at all times use every reasonable effort to properly warn and protect the public from danger, and shall exercise reasonable care to reduce the hazards to which employes, customers and others may be subjected to reason of its equipment and facilities. 

(b)  Safety code. Unless otherwise authorized by the Commission, the minimum safety standards for all gas transmission and distribution facilities in this Commonwealth shall be those issued under the pipeline safety laws as found at 49 U.S.C.A. §§ 60101—60503 and as implemented in 49 CFR Parts 191—193 and 199, including all subsequent amendments thereto which have been reviewed by the Commission and ratified by an order published in the Pennsylvania Bulletin or alternatively served on all jurisdictional gas utilities. The date the Commission’s order is entered, or in the case of publication, the date of publication in the Pennsylvania Bulletin shall serve as the effective date of the amendments. 

(c)  Enforcement. Each public utility shall be subject to inspections as may be necessary to assure compliance with this section. The facilities, books and records of each public utility shall be accessible to the Commission and its staff for the inspections. Each public utility shall provide the Commission or its staff the reports, supplemental data and information as it shall from time to time request in the administration and enforcement of this section. 

(d)  Records. Each public utility shall keep adequate records as required for compliance with the code in subsection (b). The records shall be accessible to the Commission and its staff.



§59.34.  Leakage surveys of customer-owned service lines 

(a) Plan. A public utility shall establish and execute a plan by which it will periodically survey each customer-owned service line for leakage. The plan shall conform with or exceed the standards established in 49 CFR 192.723 (relating to distribution systems; leakages and procedures) as of May 1, 1986 and subsequent amendments thereto which have been ratified by the Commission under § 59.33 (relating to safety). The public utility shall file with the Commission a copy of the plan required by this subsection including statements of the type of survey it will use and of the frequency of the survey.

§59.36.  Abandonment of inactive service lines

(4) Unrecorded inactive service lines discovered in the course of leakage surveillance, construction, maintenance or inspection of facilities shall be abandoned as follows: If leaking, abandon immediately; if not leaking, abandon as soon as practicable but not more than 10 days after discovery.

§59.37.  Maps, plans and records 

Each public utility shall keep complete maps, plans, and records of its entire distribution and other system showing the size, character, and location of each main, district regulator, street valve and drip, and each service connection, together with such other information as may be necessary. The maps, plans, and records required by the provisions of this section shall be kept up to date so that the utility may promptly and accurately furnish any information regarding its facilities, or copies of its maps, upon request by the Commission.



It is clear that Respondent violated Section 1501 of the Code because it has not complied with Sections 59.33, 59.34, 59.36 and 59.37 of the Commission’s regulations.  Paragraph 15 of the amended complaint lists 25 separate violations of the minimum safety standards for all gas transmission and distribution facilities, those issued under the pipeline safety laws as found at 49 U.S.C.A. §§ 60101— 60503, as implemented in 49 CFR Parts 191-193 and 199.  These safety standards violations appear in Finding of Fact No. 14.  


The allegation that Respondent did not leak test its service lines before placing them in service, is not included in Finding of Fact No. 14, although it is alleged in paragraph 15(i) of the Amended Complaint.  Mr. Smith testified that he leak tests service lines before placing them in service, Finding of Fact No. 5, and Complainant did not rebut his testimony.


The 24 violations are violations of the Commission’s regulations because Section 59.33(b) of the regulations adopts the federal pipeline safety standards as the Commission’s minimum safety standards.  The violations have taken place every day since at least October 30, 2003, the date Mr. Hurbanek made his annual gas safety inspection.  Respondent failed to contact the Gas Safety Division in response to the subsequent compliance letter.  In addition, it did not submit a plan to correct the violations listed in the letter, did not submit a schedule showing the dates that the work would be completed, and did not contact the Gas Safety Division to discuss the reasons for the violations and the prevention of future violations.  Finding of Fact No. 15.
Respondent’s Violation of the Commission’s Gas Cost Rate Requirements



Section 53.63 of the Commission’s regulations regarding tariffs for noncommon carriers reads in pertinent part as follows:
§53.63.  Categories of gas utilities.

The following categories of jurisdictional gas utilities shall be applicable for the purposes of this section, §§53.61, 53.62 and 53.64—53.68 (relating to recovery of fuel costs by gas utilities) but shall not modify the categories of gas utilities established for other purposes, such as to prescribe proper accounting methods: 

       (3)  Group II Gas Utility. A natural gas utility with gross intrastate annual operating revenues of less than $2.5 million in the preceding calendar year, shall be categorized as a Group II Gas Utility. 

Section 53.67 of the Commission’s regulations regarding tariffs for noncommon carriers, 52 Pa. Code §53.67, sets forth the following filing requirements for Group II Gas Utilities as defined by 52 Pa. Code §53.63(3): 

§53.67.  Filing requirements for Group II gas utilities.

Section 53.66 (relating to filing requirements for Group I gas utilities) applies to Group II gas utilities, with the following exceptions: 

      (1)  The effective date for Gas Cost Rate (GCR) filings for Group II gas utilities is November 1 and a preliminary filing containing actual data then available shall be made September 2. A final filing, based upon actual data together with revisions to data in the preliminary filing shall be made October 2. Notice to customers shall be made in accordance with §53.68(b) (relating to notice requirements) at the time of the preliminary filing. Filings shall be based on projected costs for the subsequent 12 months ending October 31. A Group II Gas Utility seeking to file its GCR for a different 12-month period shall first obtain express Commission approval to do so. 

      (2)  The 66 Pa. C.S. §1307(e) (relating to sliding scale of rates; adjustments) reconciliation statement shall be filed by October 1, based on the 12-month period ending August 31. 

      (3)  GCR tariffs filed under this section shall be filed in compliance with the Commission order entered on August 3, 1979, at P.U.C. Docket no. D-79S00192, as amended by §§53.61—53.66, this section and §53.68. 

      (4)  In addition to the statements and supporting data filed as required by 66 Pa. C.S. §  1307(e), Group II gas utilities shall file information and data as may be required by the Bureau of Audits or other bureau as the Commission may direct.

Section 1307(e) of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S.A. §1307(e), regarding adjustments to sliding scales of rates provides in pertinent part as follows:

§1307.  Sliding Scale Of Rates; Adjustments

(a) General Rule.-- Any public utility, except common carriers and those natural gas distributors with gross intrastate annual operating revenues in excess of $ 40,000,000 with respect to the gas costs of such natural gas distributors, may establish a sliding scale of rates or such other method for the automatic adjustment of the rates of the public utility as shall provide a just and reasonable return on the rate base of such public utility, to be determined upon such equitable or reasonable basis as shall provide such fair return. A tariff showing the scale of rates under such arrangement shall first be filed with the commission, and such tariff, and each rate set out therein, approved by it. The commission may revoke its approval at any time and fix other rates for any such public utility if, after notice and hearing, the commission finds the existing rates unjust or unreasonable.




*
*
*

(e) Automatic Adjustment Reports And Proceedings.--
 
      (1) Within 30 days following the end of such 12-month period as the commission shall designate, each public utility using an automatic adjustment clause shall file with the commission a statement which shall specify for such period:
      

(i) the total revenues received pursuant to the automatic adjustment clause;


(ii) the total amount of that expense or class of expenses incurred which is the basis of the automatic adjustment clause; and




(iii) the difference between the amounts specified by subparagraphs (i) and (ii).  

Such report shall be a matter of public record and copies thereof shall be made available to any person upon request to the commission.

Respondent has met none of these requirements.  Respondent did not file an Annual Gas Cost Rate Filing for 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004; it did not file an Annual 1307(e) Statement for 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004; and it did not file an Annual Reconciliation Statement for 2000.  Finding of Fact Nos. 10-12.  Respondent’s failure to make these filings constitutes violations of Section 53.67 of the Commission’s regulations and Section 1307 of the Code.

Respondent’s violation of Sections 1301, 1302 and 1303 of the Code


Section 1301 of the Code reads in pertinent part as follows:

§1301.  Rates to be just and reasonable


Every rate made, demanded, or received by any public utility, or by any two or more public utilities jointly, shall be just and reasonable, and in conformity with regulations or orders of the commission.  

Section 1302 of the Code reads in pertinent part as follows:

§1302.  Tariffs; filing and inspection

Under such regulations as the commission may prescribe, every public utility shall file with the commission, within such time and in such form as the commission may designate, tariffs showing all rates established by it and collected or enforced, or to be collected or enforced, within the jurisdiction of the commission.

Section 1303 of the Code reads in pertinent part as follows:

§1303.  Adherence to tariffs

No public utility shall, directly or indirectly, by any device whatsoever, or in anywise, demand or receive from any person, corporation, or municipal corporation a greater or less rate for any service rendered or to be rendered by such public utility than that specified in the tariffs of such public utility applicable thereto. The rates specified in such tariffs shall be the lawful rates of such public utility until changed, as provided in this part.



Respondent
 has violated these sections of the Code because it did not seek Commission approval before collecting from its customers a lesser rate in 2000 and because since 2000 it collected a rate different than the rate listed in its last Commission approved tariff.  Finding of Fact Nos. 8 and 9.

The Appropriate Penalties for Respondent’s Violations of the Code and the Commission’s Regulations
Section 3301 of the Code reads in pertinent part as follows:

§3301.  Civil penalties for violations

(a) General Rule.-- If any public utility, or any other person or corporation subject to this part, shall violate any of the provisions of this part, or shall do any matter or thing herein prohibited; or shall fail, omit, neglect, or refuse to perform any duty enjoined upon it by this part; or shall fail, omit, neglect or refuse to obey, observe, and comply with any regulation or final direction, requirement, determination or order made by the commission, or any order of the commission prescribing temporary rates in any rate proceeding, or to comply with any final judgment, order or decree made by any court, such public utility, person or corporation for such violation, omission, failure, neglect, or refusal, shall forfeit and pay to the Commonwealth a sum not exceeding $ 1,000, to be recovered by an action of assumpsit instituted in the name of the Commonwealth. In construing and enforcing the provisions of this section, the violation, omission, failure, neglect, or refusal of any officer, agent, or employee acting for, or employed by, any such public utility, person or corporation shall, in every case be deemed to be the violation, omission, failure, neglect, or refusal of such public utility, person or corporation.
 



*
*
*

(c) Gas Pipeline Safety Violations.-- Any person or corporation, defined as a public utility in this part, who violates any provisions of this part governing the safety of pipeline or conduit facilities in the transportation of natural gas, flammable gas, or gas which is toxic or corrosive, or of any regulation or order issued thereunder, shall be subject to a civil penalty of not to exceed $ 10,000 for each violation for each day that the violation persists, except that the maximum civil penalty shall not exceed $ 500,000 for any related series of violations.



The record in this proceeding demonstrates that Respondent has violated the following:

(1) Section 1102(a)(2) and (3) of the Code by attempting to abandon service and transfer its assets to SME; 
(2) Sections 501 and 1501 of the Code and Sections 59.33, 59.33, 59.34, 59.36 and 59.37 of the Commission’s regulations by committing the 24 gas safety violations contained in Finding of Fact No. 14 above; 
(3) Section 53.67 of the Commission’s regulations and Section 1307 of the Code by not making an Annual Gas Cost Rate Filing for 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004; an Annual 1307(e) Statement filing for 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004; and an Annual Reconciliation Statement filing for 2000; and 
(4) Sections 1301, 1302 and 1303 of the Code by collecting from its customer since 2000 a lesser rate than in its tariff.  
These violations warrant the imposition of a civil penalty.  


The Commission has adopted standards to apply when imposing a civil penalty for violations of Commission directives and regulations.  Joseph A. Rosi v. Bell Atlantic- Pa., Inc. and Sprint Communica​tions Company, Docket No. C‑00992409 (Order entered February 10, 2000) (Rosi).  The Commission has determined that the Rosi factors are generic in nature and are applicable in determining the amount of a civil penalty for all violations of the Code and the Commission’s regulations.  Pa. P.U.C. v. NCIC Operator Services, M-00001440 (Order entered December 21, 2000).  The Rosi standards must be used in all cases when determining the appropriate amount of a civil penalty for all types of violations for all categories of public utilities.  Id.  

The standards for developing a civil penalty set forth in Rosi are as follows:  

1.
Whether the violation was intentional or negligent.  If the violation is intentional, the Commission should start with the presumption that the penalty will be in the range of $500.00 to $1,000.00 per day.  If the violation is negligent, the Commission should start with the presumption that the penalty will be in the range of zero dollars to $500.00 per day.  The precise penalty amount per day will be arrived at by applying the following additional standards, while recognizing that the Commission retains broad discretion in determining a total civil penalty amount that is reasonable on an individual case basis.

2.
Whether the regulated entity promptly and voluntarily took steps to return the customer to the appropriate carrier and credited the customer’s account.

3.
Whether the regulated entity initiated procedures to prevent future slamming.

4.
The number of customers affected and the duration of the violation.

5.
Whether the penalty arises from a settlement or a litigated proceeding.

6.
The compliance history of the regulated entity which committed the violation.

7.
Whether the regulated entity cooperated with the Commission.  

8.
The amount necessary to deter future violations.

9.
Past Commission decisions in similar situations.

10.
Other relevant factors.

Standard One – Intentional or Negligent Violations

The violations in question are intentional.  Mr. Smith used Herman Energy and SME in an effort to be treated as a gas producer so that his operations could be outside the Commission’s jurisdiction.  Tr. 31-32.  Mr. Smith acknowledges, however, that each time he and Mr. Hurbanek spoke, Mr. Hurbanek did not agree that his operations were not subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction.  Tr. 39.  Mr. Smith also acknowledges that Respondent did not respond to the compliance letter, relying on his position that he has been operating the system as a “gas producer/seller.”  Tr. 40.  During the hearing, Mr. Smith continued to assert that his company is acting as a producer.  Tr. 46, 50.  Respondent was on notice of the safety violations since October 30, 2003, when Mr. Hurbanek conducted the annual safety inspection.  Mr. Smith also acknowledges that Respondent knowingly charged a different rate than in its tariff and did not make the filings which a regulated utility is bound by the Code to make.  Respondent, therefore, intentionally committed the violations which are the subject of this proceeding.
Under Rosi the presumption is that the penalty will be in the range of $500.00 to $1,000.00 per day.  For the reasons contained in the following discussion of the other Rosi standards, I conclude that the penalty should be $1,000.00 per day per violation.
Standards Two and Three 

These standards do not apply here because Respondent is not a telecommunications utility.
Standard Four – Number of Customers Affected and Duration of Violations

Respondent’s 400 customers are affected by the system-wide safety violations and by the failure of Respondent to adhere to its tariff and make mandatory Gas Cost Rate and other filings.  The existence of the safety violations became known on October 30, 2003, the date of Mr. Hurbanek’s safety inspection.
  Finding of Fact No. 16.  The Gas Cost Rate violations began in 2000.  Finding of Fact Nos. 10-12.  The tariff violations also began in 2000.  Finding of Fact Nos. 8-9. 
Standard Five 

The penalty arises from a litigated proceeding.  Respondent was on notice that the Gas Safety Division did not agree that Respondent was no longer subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction.  Despite this, he chose to operate through corporations used for fraudulent purposes.  This led to the filing of the Complaint which is the subject of this contested proceeding.

Standard Six – Respondent’s Compliance History

The record is silent regarding Respondent’s compliance history before 2000.  Mr. Hurbanek testified that Respondent’s system has not changed since he began inspecting it in 1991, but the record does not indicate that any efforts were made to enforce safety or other violations from 1991 until 2004.

Standard Seven – Whether Respondent Cooperated with the Commission

Respondent refused to cooperate with the Commission.  It did not respond to the compliance letter.  At the hearing, Mr. Smith continued to assert that the fraudulently created corporation, SME, is not subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction because it is a gas producer.

Standard Eight – The Amount Necessary to Deter Future Violations

The Gas Safety Division seeks a penalty in the amount of $250,000.00.  Mr. Smith testified that Respondent’s revenues are about $200,000.00 annually and that the business is his sole means of income.  It is apparent that the assessment of a $250,000.00 penalty could put Respondent out of business and leave 400 customers without gas service.  It is also apparent that a substantial penalty will be the only way to get Respondent’s attention and deter future violations.  Another factor is that Respondent will incur substantial expenses to bring its system within the Commission’s safety standards and further expenses to comply with the Commission’s Gas Cost Rate and tariff requirements. 


Even without considering penalties for the Gas Cost Rate and tariff violations,   the gas safety violations call for substantial penalties.  At $10,000.00 per day for 25 violations for 365 days, the penalty could $91,250,000.00 ($10,000.00 x 25 = $250,000.00 x 365 = $91,250,000.00).  Even at the low end of the Rosi range ($500.00 per violation) the penalty could be $45,625,000.00, far more than the $250,000.00 which Complainant requests.  Penalties in the amount of $250,000.00, therefore are reasonable, given the serious nature of the numerous safety violations affecting 400 customers. 
Factor Nine – Past Commission Decisions in Similar Situations

There do not seem to be any past Commission decisions similar to the penalty schedule set forth below.

Factor Ten – Other Relevant Factors 

 As noted previously, the imposition of a $250,000.00 penalty could result in the loss of gas service to Respondent’s customers.
  This is not a mitigating factor, however, because Mr. Smith has continued to insist that Respondent is not subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction and has taken no steps to comply with the Code or any Commission regulations.  Even so, it is in the public interest to devise a penalty scheme designed to bring Respondent into compliance with the Commission’s regulations and the Code without, at the same time, putting Respondent out of business.  For this reason, the order below penalizes Respondent $250,000.00 and gives Respondent a chance to avoid $240,000.00 of this amount if it cures the violations it committed.  

The order below directs Respondent to pay $10,000.00, within 20 days of the entry date of the Commission’s Final Order.  


The order also provides for a reduction of the penalty in the amount of $8,000.00 for each of the following actions which Respondent takes within 30 days from the date of service of the Commission’s Final Order: (1) makes its 2004 GCR filing, or the 2005 filing if that is due 30 days from the date of service of the Commission’s Final Order; (2) files its 1307(e) Statement for 2004, or for 2005 if that is due 30 days from the date of service of the Commission’s Final Order; (3) files its Annual Reconciliation Statement for 2004, or its 2005 Statement if that is due 30 days from the date of service of the Commission’s Final Order; (4) submits proof in writing that it is charging its customers in accordance with Supplement No. 36 to Gas-Pa. P.U.C. No. 4, which became effective January 1, 2000; and (5) submits proof in writing that it is billing its customers, not Herman Energy, and that it owns the facilities in question, not SME Well Service.  If Respondent performs these five actions in the time allotted, the penalty will be reduced by $40,000.00 (5 x $8,000.00).  For every violation Respondent does not cure within the time allotted it will pay $8,000.00 within 30 days of the deadline set forth.


Finally, the order below allows the penalty to be reduced by $8,333.33 for each of the 24 safety violations which Respondent remedies by the date of the 2005 annual gas safety inspection performed on its system.  If Respondent accomplishes these 24 actions in the time allotted, the penalty will be reduced by $200,000.00
 (24 x $8,333.33).  For every violation Respondent fails to cure by the date of the 2005 annual gas safety inspection, it will pay $8,333.33 on or before 30 days after the date of the inspection.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


1.
The Commission has jurisdiction over the parties to and the subject matter of this proceeding.



2.
The Public Utility Commission’s Law Bureau has met its burden of proving that Respondent committed the violations set forth in the amended complaint.


3.
Respondent has committed 24 different violations of the Commission’s safety regulations and has rendered unreasonable and unsafe service under the Public Utility Code for at least one year.



4.
Respondent has violated the Commission’s Gas Cost Rate regulations and the applicable Public Utility Code provision regarding Gas Cost Rate filings for at least four years.



5.
Respondent has violated the Commission’s tariff regulations and the applicable Public Utility Code provisions regarding tariffs for at least four years.



6.
The $250,000.00 in penalties set forth in the order below and the chance for Respondent to eliminate $240,000.00 of the amount of the penalty are reasonable given the intentional and serious nature of the violations.

ORDER


THEREFORE;



IT IS ORDERED:



1.
That the complaint of the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission, Law Bureau against Herman Oil and Gas Company, Inc. at Docket No. C-20042406 is sustained.


2.
That Respondent, within twenty (20) days after service of the Commission’s Final Order, shall forward a penalty of ten thousand dollars ($10,000.00) by check or money order payable to:PRIVATE 




Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission




P.O. Box 3265




Harrisburg, PA 17105-3265

as provided for in Sections 3301 and 3315 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S. §§3301 and 3315.



3.
That Respondent, within thirty (30) days after service of the Commission’s Final Order, shall forward a penalty of forty thousand dollars ($40,000.00) by check or money order payable to:PRIVATE 




Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission




P.O. Box 3265




Harrisburg, PA 17105-3265

as provided for in Sections 3301 and 3315 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S. §§3301 and 3315.



4.
That the penalty set forth in paragraph three of this Order shall be reduced by $8,000.00 for each of the following actions which Respondent completes within thirty (30) days after service of the Commission’s Final Order: (a) makes its 2004 GCR filing, or the 2005 filing if that is due within thirty (30) days after service of the Commission’s final order; (b) files its 1307(e) Statement for 2004, or for 2005 if that is due within thirty (30) days after service of the Commission’s Final Order; (c) files its Annual Reconciliation Statement for 2004, or for 2005 if that is due within thirty (30) days after service of the Commission’s Final Order; (d) submits to the Commission’s Bureau of Audits and to the Commission’s Law Bureau proof in writing that it is has returned to charging its customers in accordance with Supplement No. 36 to Gas-Pa. P.U.C. No. 4, which became effective January 1, 2000; and (e) submits proof in writing to the Commission’s Bureau of Audits and to the Commission’s Law Bureau that Respondent is billing its customers, not Herman Energy, Inc., and that Respondent owns the facilities in question, not S.M.E. Well Service, Inc.  



5.
That Respondent, within 30 (thirty) days after the 2005 annual gas safety inspection is performed on its system, shall forward a penalty of two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000.00) by check or money order payable to:PRIVATE 




Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission




P.O. Box 3265




Harrisburg, PA 17105-3265

as provided for in Sections 3301 and 3315 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S. §§3301 and 3315.



6.
That the penalty set forth in paragraph five of this Order shall be reduced by $8,333.33 for each safety violation which Respondent remedies by the date on which the 2005 annual gas safety inspection is performed on its system.  



7.
That Respondent cease and desist from further violations of the Public Utility Code and of the Commission’s regulations.  

Dated:  December 1, 2004



____________________________







Larry Gesoff








Administrative Law Judge
	�   	The records of the Commonwealth’s Department of State Corporation Bureau show October 22, 1982 as the filing date for a certificate of incorporation and articles of incorporation for Respondent with Mr. Smith designated as the President.


	�   	Mr. Smith’s initials backwards (Smith, Mark E.).  Tr. 25.





	�   	The records of the Commonwealth’s Department of State Corporation Bureau indicate that on June 18, 1992, Mr. Smith filed articles of incorporation for S.M.E. Well Service, Inc.  He listed himself as President.  The records also show that on May 7, 1999, Mr. Smith filed articles of incorporation for Herman Energy, Inc., listing himself as President and Treasurer.  The listed purpose for both corporations is “Broad.”





	�  	Section 332(a) of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S.A. §332(a).


	�  	Se-Ling Hosiery v. Margulies, 364 Pa. 54, 70 A.2d 854 (1950).  


� 	Replogle v. Pennsylvania Electric Company, 54 Pa. PUC 528 (1980), and Waldron v. Philadelphia Electric Company, 54 Pa. PUC 98 (1980).





� 	Morrissey v.  PA Dept. of Highways, 424 Pa. 87, 225 A.2d 895 (1967), and Burleson v. Pa. P.U.C. 66 Pa. Commonwealth Ct. 282, 443 A.2d 1373 (1982), aff’d. 501 Pa. 443, 461 A.2d 1234.





� 	See, e.g., Section 704 of the Administrative Agency Law, 2 Pa. C.S.A. §704.  


� 	Norfolk & Western Ry. Co. v. Pa. P.U.C., 489 Pa. 109, 413 A.2d 1037 (1980); Erie Resistor Corp. v. Unemployment Comp. Bd. of Review, 194 Pa. Superior Ct. 278, 166 A.2d 96 (1961); and Murphy v. Comm., Dept. of Public Welfare, White Haven Center, 85 Pa. Commonwealth Ct. 23, 480 A.2d 382 (1984).





�	If SME Well Service and Herman Energy were considered bonafide corporations and Respondent was no longer considered to be a public utility, SME Well Service and Herman Energy would be de facto utilities subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction.  By owning production facilities and selling gas to the public, these corporations would meet the definition of a public utility under Section 102(1)(i) of the Code and would have violated the Code by failing to seek a certificate of public convenience pursuant to Section 1101 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S.A. §1101.  Further discussion of the status of SME Well Service and Herman Energy as utilities subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction, however, is unnecessary because they were created for fraudulent purposes.  Ignoring these corporate forms leaves Respondent subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction as the entity providing gas service.   


�   	During the hearing, Mr. Smith stated that “When I switched, I figured either you’re gonna let me do it to help the consumer, to help me, to help the company or, I’ll end up havin’ to go back the other way.”  Tr. 31.  Mr. Smith’s use of “I” and “me” makes it clear that he considers SME and Herman Energy to be extensions of him.    


	�	Herman Energy collected the new rates, but, as discussed above, Herman Energy’s corporate status has been disregarded and Respondent is the entity, which since 2000, collected the new rates without obtaining the Commission’s approval.


	�	The violation in Rosi was not a gas safety violation, but I shall use the same proportions.  This means that violation is intentional, so the presumption is that the penalty will be in the range of $500.00 to $1,000.00 per day and if the violation is negligent, the presumption is that the penalty will be in the range of zero dollars to $500.00 per day.  





	�   	Many might have begun as early as 1991, the date Mr. Hurbanek began to conduct annual safety inspections of Respondent’s system, because Mr. Hurbanek testified that Respondent’s system has not changed since that time except for the addition of main lines.  Finding of Fact No. 14.   There is no record proof of this, however, so October 30, 2003 must be used as the date the violations began.


	�   	In certain circumstances, large water utilities under the Commission’s jurisdiction have taken over small water utilities under the Commission’s jurisdiction.  It is not within scope of this proceeding, however, to consider a large gas distribution utility taking over Respondent.  


	�   	$199,999.92 rounded to $200,000.00.
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